
High Peak Borough Council

COMMUNITY SELECT COMMITTEE AGENDA

Date: Wednesday, 3rd October, 2018

Time: 6.30 pm

Venue: The Octagon Lounge - Pavilion Gardens, Buxton

25 September 2018

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee 
i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
ii) Other Interests

3. Any matters referred to the Committee under the call-in procedure 

4. Minutes of the previous meeting 3 - 6

5. North Derbyshire CCG - Care Closer to Home Update 

6. Derbyshire Police Update 

7. Royal Bank of Scotland Closures - Buxton and Chapel en le Frith 
Links to the Royal Bank of Scotland information about branch closures are 
attached:

https://personal.rbs.co.uk/personal/ways-to-bank-EW/branch-closures-EW.html

8. Declaration of an Air Quality Management Area on part of the Woodhead Road 
(A628) Tintwistle 7 - 18

9. Environmental Enforcement Annual Update 19 - 28

10. Select Committee Work Programme 29 - 30

11. Any questions referred to the Executive Member (Democratic Services to be 
advised of any questions at least 4 days prior to the meeting) 

SIMON BAKER
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Public Document Pack

https://personal.rbs.co.uk/personal/ways-to-bank-EW/branch-closures-EW.html


Membership of Community Select Committee
Councillor S Young (Chair) Councillor K Sizeland (Vice-Chair)
Councillor R Atkins Councillor C Boynton
Councillor D Greenhalgh Councillor J Haken
Councillor P Hardy Councillor C Johnson
Councillor D Kerr Councillor R Quinn
Councillor E Siddall Councillor J Wharmby



 
 

 High Peak Borough Council 
 
 

COMMUNITY SELECT COMMITTEE 
 
 

Meeting: Wednesday, 8 August 2018 at 6.30 pm in The Cafe - Pavilion Gardens, 
Buxton 
 

Present: Councillor S Young (Chair)  
 

 Councillors D Greenhalgh, P Hardy, D Kerr, A McKeown (substitute for R 
Quinn), J Perkins (substitute for J Haken), K Sizeland, J Todd (substitute for 
E Siddall) and J Wharmby 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors R Atkins, J Haken, 
C Johnson, R Quinn and E Siddall 
 

19/12 TO RECEIVE DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST ON ANY MATTERS BEFORE 
THE COMMITTEE 
(Agenda Item 2) 
 
Councillor Greenhalgh declared an ‘other’ interest in agenda item 5, “Places 
for People Leisure Annual Action Plan” (reason: works for The Bureau who 
receive a financial contribution towards a member of staff’s salary from 
Places for people Leisure – HPBC leisure contractor 
 
Councillor Thrane declared an ‘other’ interest in agenda item 7, “Buxton TIC 
– Proposals for new management arrangements” (reason: Council nominee 
on Crescent Trust) and withdrew from the meeting during the consideration 
and voting thereon 
 

19/13 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
(Agenda Item 4) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That, subject to the amendment of minute 19/1 to refer to Communty Select 
Committee, the minutes of the meeting held on 20 June 2018 be approved 
as a correct record. 
 

19/14 PLACES FOR PEOPLE LEISURE ANNUAL ACTION PLAN UPDATE 
(Agenda Item 5) 
 
Aidan Hall and Charlotte Leonhardsen (Health and Wellbeing Manager) 
provided the committee with an update on the performance of Places for 
People Leisure (PfPL) in 2017-2018. 
 
The report set out the actions set for the 2017 – 18 period, 16 of which were 
achieved (38%), which was disappointing.  It was noted that a number of the 
actions and targets in the plan were unrealistic due to delays in appointing 
to the Health & Wellbeing Manager post.  The 2018/19 action plan was 
appended to the report which supported the aims of the Council’s Sport & 
Physical Activity Strategy. 
 Page 3

Agenda Item 4



Community Select Committee 
Wednesday, 8 August 2018 

 

2 
 

The remit of the Health & Wellbeing Manager post was outlined to the 
committee, which was a jointly funded post with the Bureau, based in 
Glossop. The role included tasks such as working with GP surgeries, 
volunteers, focus on COPD, people suffering with dementia and long term 
conditions and the exercise referral scheme. A swimming and sports 
development manager had also been appointed working across all 4 sites, 
who had a focus of children’s activities, swimming lesson development, 
gymnastics development in New Mills and Glossop, sports hall development 
and place based activities. 
 
In response to concerns expressed regarding performance last year, and 
reporting mechanisms, the committee were assured that the actions for 
2018/19 were realistic and achievable and that the action plan was reviewed 
on a quarterly basis to enable any issues with non-compliance to be flagged 
up. 
 
It was queried whether there was any scope for reduced membership fees 
for those who successfully completed the 12 week GP referral course to 
assist those who might otherwise be financially excluded, and to increase 
completion rates. 
 
The provision for 13 – 16 year olds was queried, and members were 
advised that a number of taster sessions had been offered such as 
dancercise and re-bound, but that this age range remained challenging to 
engage.  It was noted that since 2008, attendances generally had increased 
by 40%, with the largest increases being in swimming and gym use. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the performance of PfPL against the actions contained within 
their 2017 – 2018 Annual Action Plan (Appendix A) be noted; 

 
2. That the actions contained within the 2018 – 2019 Annual Action Plan 

with its associated targets and outcomes be noted. 
 

19/15 GLOSSOPDALE BIODEGRADABLE LINERS TRIAL UPDATE 
(Agenda Item 6) 
 
The Committee were provided with an update on the Glossopdale 
compostable liners trial which sought to investigate the impact providing 
residents with compostable liners had on the amount of food waste recycled 
and the impact on wider recycling performance.  The Committee were 
advised of proposals to amend and extend the scheme to another collection 
round to provide comparative data. 
 
In response to a query regarding the liners, members were advised that a 
key aspect of the project was to ensure that the liners composted within 3 
months and did not affect the quality of the compost which had been 
achieved.  A key issue was to ensure that residents used the correct liners, 
and communication would be undertaken around local stockists.  The 
importance of effective communication with residents was stressed by 
members. 
 Page 4



Community Select Committee 
Wednesday, 8 August 2018 

 

3 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the proposed amendments to the original trial be noted; 
 

2. That the proposed continuation of the trial in Glossopdale be noted; 
and 

 
3. That the proposed expansion of the trial to a further collection round 

in Buxton. 
 
 
 
 

19/16 BUXTON TIC - PROPOSAL FOR NEW MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS 
(Agenda Item 7) 
 
The Committee considered the proposed future management arrangements 
for Buxton Tourist Information Centre and retail at Pavilion Gardens. 
 
It was reported the Executive would not be quorate to make a decision on 
this item due to two members needing to declare interests so therefore, the 
decision on this item would be made via an Individual Executive Decision. 
 
Whilst it was commented that residents were widely supportive of the 
proposal, assurances were sought around the future of the retail and gallery 
operations.  The Committee were advised that this formed part of the 
outsourcing arrangements for the Pavilion Gardens and it would be for the 
operators to decide whether or not these functions would be retained. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the Executive be requested to approve the recommendation to 
transfer the management and operation of the Buxton Tourist 
Information Centre (TIC) to the Pump Room and Crescent 
Experience (Buxton Crescent and Thermal Spa Heritage Trust) on 
the terms as set out within the report; 
 

2. That the making of the decision via an Individual Executive Decision 
(IED) be supported. 

 
 
 
 

19/17 SELECT COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 
(Agenda Item 8) 
 
The following additions were requested to be added to the work programme: 

• An update on the Better Care Closer to Home Programme 
• Glossop Household Recycling Centre – determine whether any 

changes are planned, and if not, delete from work programme 
• Members requested that they be able to accompany the enforcement 

team on visits, which would be arranged 
Page 5



Community Select Committee 
Wednesday, 8 August 2018 

 

4 
 

• An update on the DFRS consultation around the removal of the aerial 
ladder platform from Buxton 

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That subject to the above amendments, the Select Committee Work 
Programme be noted. 
 

19/18 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
(Agenda Item 10) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item of business as there may be disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972 
 

19/19 EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
(Agenda Item 11) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the exempt minutes of the meeting held on 20 June 2018 be approved 
as a correct record. 
 
 
 
The meeting concluded at 7.54 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN 

 
 

Page 6



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

Report to Community Select Committee 
 

3 October 2018 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Appendices Attached:  
 
Appendix 1:  Map of proposed Air Quality Management Area No.1 
Appendix 2:  Proposed Air Quality Management Order No. 1 
   
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 
1.1 To make recommendations to ensure that the Authority meets its legal 

duty in relation to the Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) as 
required by the provisions of the Environment Act 1995. 

 
 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Executive be recommended to make an Order under Section 
83 of the Environment Act 1995 declaring an Air Quality Management 
Area in the form attached at Appendix 2. 

 
 

3. Executive Summary 
 

3.1 The outcome of an assessment of the air quality along the Woodhead 
Road (A628) in Tintwistle has concluded that it is necessary to declare 
an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), encompassing the 
properties between the Bank Lane/Woodhead Road Junction and Old 
Road / Woodhead Road Junction. 

 
3.2 The declaration of the AQMA is required because levels of Nitrogen 

Dioxide have been found to exceed the National Air Quality Standard. 

TITLE: Declaration of an Air Quality Management Area on part of 
the Woodhead Rd (A628), Tintwistle 

 
PORTFOLIO: Cllr Julie McCabe – Executive Councillor for Housing and 

Communities 
 
OFFICER: Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer 
    
WARDS: Tintwistle 

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



Under these circumstances the Council is obliged by the provisions of 
the Environment Act 1995 to declare an Air Quality Management Area. 
A map showing the extent of the AQMA is provided in Appendix 1. 

 
 

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
 4.1 This report supports the following Council’s Corporate Aims: 
 

• Aim 1: To help create a safer and healthier environment for our 
residents to live and work. 

•  Aim 4: To protect and improve the environment. 
 
 
5. Options and Analysis 
 

5.1 The Executive is asked to consider the report, and determine whether 
the evidence provided is sufficient to recommend that an Order under 
Section 83 of the Environment Act 1995 declaring an Air Quality 
Management Area be made.  

 
 

6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
There are no Community Safety issues arising from this report.  
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
There are no workforce implications arising from this report. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Diversity and Equality Policies. 
 
There are no equality and diversity implications arising from this report. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
There are no initial financial implications arising from this report. All 
assessments will be carried out as part of the Council’s routine work. 
However, the Council may need to seek support from external bodies 
should any further modelling be required for the preparation of the 
action plan. Typically the cost of this would be in the region of £5,000. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
The Council has a statutory duty to manage Air Quality in its area and 
where nationally set criteria are exceeded to declare an Air Quality 

Page 8



Management Area. Having declared an AQMA, the Council is obliged 
to prepare, following due consultation with interested parties, an Air 
Quality Action Plan. The Plan must subsequently be implemented. 
Failure to do so may result in legal action being taken against the 
Council. 
 

6.6 Sustainability 
 
There are no sustainability implications arising from this report. 
 

6.7 
 
 
 

Internal and External Consultation 
 
Public consultation cannot change the decision of whether or not to 
declare (this is mandatory). However, a public notification/informative 
exercise has been completed to inform  those affected, including: 
 

• Letters and information to all residents affected; 
• A public drop in session at Tintwistle village (4/10/18);   
• Notification in the local paper  (Glossop Chronical); and  
• Web Promotion.  

 
6.8 
 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
It is a statutory requirement that the Council assesses air quality and 
takes action where appropriate. In this case there is an obligation to 
declare an AQMA. The necessary process is underway and there are 
no risks to the Council at this stage of the process. 
 
The European Commission has formally launched infraction 
proceedings against the UK for breach of nitrogen dioxide limit values 
under the EU Air Quality Directive. Part 2 of the Localism Act allows 
the Government to require responsible authorities to pay all or part of 
an infraction fine. By undertaking its statutory duties and carrying out 
all reasonable measures to address breaches of the nitrogen dioxide 
limits, it is anticipated that such fines will not be derogated to this 
Council. 
 

 
7. Background and Detail 
 

7.1 Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts.  In 
common with the rest of the UK, the main sources of air pollution across 
the High Peak are emissions from road traffic, in particularly Nitrogen 
Dioxide and Particulate matter.  

 
7.2 Typically, the highest road-side concentrations of these pollutants are 

found on roads with high traffic volumes and/or where traffic regularly 
queues. However, roadside pollution also tends to reduce as you move 
away from the traffic therefore, when measuring pollution, the 
government requires Councils to focus on areas considered to be 
“relevant exposure”.  In other words, it should be representative of the 

Page 9



air people actually breathe.   This is usually means the concentrations 
at a person’s home (at the façade of the property) but it can also mean 
another location that people spend a lot of time,   such as a town centre 
or school.   
 

7.3 Legal Framework  
Section 82 of the Environment Act 1995 requires a Local Authority to 
review and assess local air quality against national health based 
standards for seven key pollutants set out in the Air Quality Regulations 
2000 (as amended). The regulatory framework previously set up a 
phased approach to this work starting with an Update and Screening 
Assessment and moving to a detailed assessment where further work is 
are required. In 2016, the regulatory system changed, and the phased 
approach has been replaced by an Annual Status Report (‘ASR’).  
 

7.4 The government publishes Air Quality objectives for the individual 
pollutants, and we determine if we have got a pollution issue by 
comparing our monitoring data with these objectives.  Under Section 
83(1) of the Environment Act 1995, where air quality objectives are not 
being met (or are predicted to not be met), the local authority must 
proceed and designate this area as an Air Quality Management Area 
(AQMA).  
 

7.5 Local Authorities are charged with a number of duties relative to the 
declaration of an AQMA: 

 
7.5.1 Action Planning  

Once an AQMA has been declared, the local authority has a 
year to publish an Action Plan setting out how the Authority 
intends to use the measures and powers available to work 
towards improving the air quality within the AQMA.  In instances 
relating to traffic generated pollution, the powers are primarily 
available to other organisations, such as the relevant highways 
authority rather than the Borough Council. Changes in the 
statutory policy guidance place a greater emphasis on highway 
authorities to take a leading role in developing actions plans, 
when the cause of air quality exceedances is predominantly from 
roads under their responsibility. As such, the action plan will be 
developed in conjunction with those bodies.   
 

7.5.2 Review Action Plan Progress.  
Progress on implementing the action plan will be reviewed 
annually. 

 
 

7.6 Proposed Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) on the Woodhead 
Rd (A628), Tintwistle  

 
The Woodhead Road (A628) is a major road in the north of England 
connecting Greater Manchester and South Yorkshire and passes 
through High Peak.    High Peak Borough Council currently monitors air 

Page 10



quality at various locations across the Borough, including several 
locations along the along the Woodhead road (A628).   
 
The monitoring locations are shown in Figure 1 below:  
 

Figure 1:  Nitrogen Dioxide Monitoring Locations on the Woodhead Road 

 
 
 

7.7 Recent monitoring and modelling presented in the 2017 Annual Air 
Quality Status Report concluded that the  annual mean levels of 
Nitrogen Dioxide  exceed the air quality (AQ) objective of 40µg/m3d at a 
small number of relevant receptors (the façades of properties), along a 
section of the Woodhead Road (A628).  This report also indicated that 
levels are approaching the objective (high 30’s µg/m3) at other locations 
along the Woodhead Road (within the High Peak), notably at the 
junction with Bank Lane (point HP8 in Figure 1 above).   

 
7.8 Monitoring undertaken since the assessment of the ASR in 2018 

(currently in preparation) has provided further evidence of the need for 
an AQMA in this location and noted an exceedance of the AQ objective 
at HP8.  

 
The results for Nitrogen Dioxide in these monitoring locations, for the 
last three years are shown below in Table 1.  It should be noted that 
HP2 is a roadside reading that does not represent relevant exposure as 
it is some distance from properties.  
 
 

Table 1:  Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) Monitoring Results for Woodhead Road (A628) 

HP 
Ref: 

Measured NO2 conc 
(µg/m3) 

2015 

Measured NO2 conc 
(µg/m3) 

2016 

Measured NO2 conc 
(µg/m3) 

2017 

Page 11



HP2 65.0 60.2 60.2 

HP3 34.5 32.3 29.7 

HP5 51.8 49.9 51.5 

HP6 35.4 32.1 33.4 

HP8 38.6 36.2 46.9 

HP9 23.7 23.0 25.9 

 
7.9 Under Section 83(1) of the Environment Act 1995, where air quality 

objectives are not being met (or are predicted to not be met), the local 
authority must proceed and designate this area as an Air Quality 
Management Area (AQMA).  

 
It is, therefore, recommended that an AQMA area is declared on the 
A628 (Woodhead Road) encompassing the properties between Bank 
Lane / Woodhead Road Junction and  Old Road  / Woodhead Road 
Junction.   

 
7.10 Once the AQMA has been declared, the Council has a year to publish 

an Action Plan, setting out how we will use the measures and powers 
available to work towards improving the air quality within the AQMA.   
The Action Plan will take a practical approach and focus on what really 
matters – identifying the nature of the problem, and detailing measures 
that are or will be introduced to improve air quality local level.  
 

7.11 The Council will not be preparing or implementing  the action plan in 
isolation and  will engage with relevant local (e.g. the public, Derbyshire 
County Council)  and national stakeholders (e.g. Highways England, 
Public Health England and Central Government ), to help deliver the 
required outcomes.   

 
In instances relating to traffic generated pollution, the powers are 
primarily available to other organisations, such as the relevant 
highways authority or agency, rather than the Borough Council. Recent 
changes in the statutory policy guidance place a greater emphasis on 
highway authorities to take a leading role in developing actions plans, 
when, as in this instance,  the cause of air quality exceedances is 
predominantly from roads under their responsibility.  As the source of 
pollution along the Woodhead Road is traffic generated pollution, the 
Council will look to Highways England, who are responsible for the 
management of this road, for help in preparing and delivering the action 
plan. 

 
Mark Trillo 

Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer 
 
         

Page 12



      
      
      
 
 
Web Links and Background 
Papers 
  

Location Contact Details 

High Peak Air Quality Annual 
Status Report 2017 

Regulatory Services 
Town Hall  
Market Place 
Buxton 
 

Alicia Patterson 
Operations Manager 

Web Links: Further information including the public consultation information can be 
found at https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/342/Air-quality 

 
 
 

Page 13

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/342/Air-quality


This page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright and database rights 2018 Ordnance Survey 100018411.

     High Peak Borough Council 
     Air Quality Management Area 
     No.1

Scale: 1:2500 @A4             

Text

     AQMA      No.1

P
age 15



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Air Quality Management Area Order 
 
 

Environment Act 1995 Part IV Section 83(2) 
 

High Peak Borough Council 
 

 
 
High Peak Borough Council, in exercise of the powers conferred upon it by Section 

83(1) of the Environment Act 1995, hereby makes the following Order. 

 

This Order may be cited/referred to as the High Peak Borough Council Air Quality 

Management Area No 1. and shall come into effect on XXXXXX 

 

The area shown on the attached map in red is to be designated as an air quality 

management area (the designated area). The designated area incorporates the 

followi1ng the section of the Woodhead Road (A628) between the Bank Lane / 

Woodhead Road Junction, and Old Road/Woodhead Road Junction.  

 

This Area is designated in relation to a likely breach of the Nitrogen Dioxide annual 

mean standard as specified in the Air Quality Regulations 2000. 

 

 This Order shall remain in force until it is varied or revoked by a subsequent order. 

  

The Common Seal of High Peak Borough Council was hereto affixed on XXX and 

signed in the presence of  xxxxxx   on behalf of said Council 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

Report to Community Select Committee 
 

3 October 2018 
 
 
 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendices Attached: 
 
Appendix A: Enforcement Activity 

  
 
 

1. Reason for the Report 
 

The report provides an update on environmental enforcement and proposes 
changes the levels of the fixed penalty notices set by the Council. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive be requested to: 
 

i) notes the content of the report. 
ii) approves the proposed changes to the fixed penalty payments 

and arrangements. 
 
 

3. Executive Summary 
 

3.1 High Peak Borough Council adopted a revised policy on the 
enforcement of environmental crime in October 2017. This has resulted 
in increases in the number of fixed penalty notices issued for littering 
and dog fouling. The number of littering fixed penalties issued in 

TITLE: Enforcement of Environmental Crime 
 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: Cllr Julie McCabe – Executive Councillor for 

Housing and Communities 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Executive Director (People) and Monitoring 

Officer 
   
WARDS INVOLVED:  All 

Page 19

Agenda Item 9



2017/18 was 63 compared to 23 in 2016/17 and the number of dog 
fouling fixed penalties increased from 6 to 11. 

3.2 Between 1 April and 31 August 2018, there were 68 fixed penalties 
issued for littering and 10 for dog fouling. 

3.3 There have been 5 successful prosecutions for littering and one for dog 
fouling in 2018 (to date). 

3.4 The Government published its Litter Strategy for England in April 2017 
and subsequently consulted on increasing the level of fixed penalty 
notices for environmental offences. This led to the introduction of the 
Environmental Offences (Fixed Penalties) (England) Regulations 2017 
on 1st April 2018. This increased the amounts for certain fixed penalty 
notices. The Government has also introduced new fixed penalty notices 
for fly-tipping and littering from vehicles. It is proposed that the Council 
increases its fixed penalty notice charges and introduces the new 
powers to tackle fly-tipping and littering from vehicles. 

 
4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and 
environmental health is a key priority under Aim 4 (To protect and 
improve the environment) of the High Peak Borough Council Corporate 
Plan 2015-19. 

 
 

5. Options and Analysis 
 

5.1 The Council is able to set its fixed penalty notice charges within certain 
statutory bands governing maximum and minimum levels. The 
maximum full penalties for littering, graffiti, fly-posting and unauthorised 
distribution of free printed matter have been increased from £75 up to 
£150. The minimum permitted early payment discount charge (the 
“lesser penalty”) is being increased from £50 to £65 from 1st April 2019. 

 
5.2 It is proposed that the Council adopts a fixed penalty amount of £120 

for each offence to deter environmental crime.  
 
5.3 It is also proposed that the Council set the ‘lesser amount’ at £100 if 

paid within 10 days to encourage early payment. 
 
 

6. Implications 
 

6.1  Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
The approach to environmental enforcement assists the authority to 
address behaviour that adversely affects the environment. 
 

6.2 Workforce 

Page 20



 
None. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
Not applicable.   
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
The report proposes changes to the levels of certain fixed penalty 
notices. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
The report responds to recent legislative changes, specifically the 
introduction of the Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) 
Regulations 2016, the Environmental Offences (Fixed Penalties) 
(England) Regulations 2017, and the Littering From Vehicles Outside 
London (Keepers: Civil Penalties) Regulations 2018. 
  

6.6 Sustainability 
 
No specific implications. 
 

6.7 
 
 
 

Internal and External Consultation 
 
Not applicable. 

6.8 
 
 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
Not applicable. 

 

7. Background and Detail 

Introduction 

7.1 High Peak Borough Council adopted a revised policy on the 
enforcement of environmental crime in October 2017. The delivery of 
the policy was supported by the adoption of a revised approach for 
responding to environmental crimes involving education, enforcement 
and cleansing. 

 
7.2 Enforcement activity is primarily carried out by the Council’s 

Environmental Enforcement Officers. An additional enforcement officer 
has been temporarily recruited (up to end October 2018) to provide 
additional capacity in High Peak. This officer has primarily focussed on 
littering and dog fouling and not on the broader range of environmental 
offences such as fly-tipping and abandoned vehicles. 

 

Page 21



7.3 The officers carry out the patrols across the borough and often work in 
isolated areas. There have been a number of incidents in recent years 
where the Council’s Enforcement Officers have been threatened or 
assaulted but fortunately such occurrences are rare. In response, a new 
lone worker system is being introduced to manage the risk. This 
provides the officers with access to a 24/7 monitoring service via an 
emergency button on their mobile phone with GPS tracking.  

 
7.4 Training has been provided for the Environmental Enforcement Officers, 

Street Scene Supervisors and others in January 2018. All supervisors 
were subsequently delegated the power to issue fixed penalty notices 
and issued with an authorisation card. The Street Scene Supervisors 
have also been asked to provide a monthly report on environmental 
issues to allow the work of the Enforcement Team to be more 
effectively focussed. 

 
7.5 Additional training has also been provided for those Council officers 

who work in the Borough’s parks. This was delivered through team 
briefings to raise awareness of how to respond to problems in the 
parks, such as nuisance dogs. In terms of the latter, horticultural 
operatives will request that nuisance dogs are put on a lead and will 
escalate to their Supervisor (or police) as appropriate. 

 
7.6 A new reporting book for Operational Services staff members is being 

introduced, which will make it easier for officer to report problems to the 
enforcement team. This will include reporting litter from vehicles (see 
below for legislative changes in relation to this). The number of reports 
will be monitored to check on effectiveness of the approach. 

 
Legislative Changes 
 
7.7 The Government published its Litter Strategy for England in April 2017 

and, alongside, published a consultation document seeking views on 
whether the fines for littering and related offences should be increased 
given that the amounts had remained the same since 2006.  

 
7.8 This led to the introduction of the Environmental Offences (Fixed 

Penalties) (England) Regulations 2017 on 1st April 2018, which 
increased the amounts for certain fixed penalty notices. The maximum 
full penalties for littering, graffiti, fly-posting and unauthorised 
distribution of free printed matter have been increased from £75 up to 
£150. The minimum permitted early payment discount charge (the 
“lesser penalty”) is also being increased from £50 to £65 from 1st April 
2019. 

 
7.9 It is recommended that the Council increases the fixed penalty notice 

charges for the above offences to £120 to help to deter people from 
committing environmental offences. In cases of demonstrable hardship, 
this amount could be paid in three equal instalments of £40 over three 
months. 

 

Page 22



7.10 It is also recommended that the Council adopts a lesser penalty amount 
of £100 if the penalty is paid within 10 days to encourage prompt 
payment. 

 
7.11 The Unauthorised Deposit of Waste (Fixed Penalties) Regulations 2016 

introduced the power for Councils to issue fixed penalties for 
small-scale fly-tipping offences. The maximum permitted penalty is 
£400 and lesser penalty must not be less that £120 for payment within 
10 days of receipt of the notice. The only other enforcement route 
available is prosecution, which is both costly and burdensome (although 
littering fixed penalties can be issued for very minor offences). 

 
7.12 It is recommended that the Council introduce the new power to issue 

fixed penalty notices for £400 with a lesser penalty amount of £300. 
 
7.13 Littering from vehicles is a problem across the Borough. Although the 

Council is often able to identify the registered keeper from the vehicle 
registration, it is not always possible to identify who within the car 
discarded the litter. The Littering From Vehicles Outside London 
(Keepers: Civil Penalties) Regulations 2018 came into force on 1st April 
2018. This allows the Council, subject to certain conditions, the power 
to issue a penalty notice to the keeper of the vehicle in respect of any 
litter discarded from that vehicle. 

 
7.14 The amount of the penalty would be the same as that set by the 

authority for littering. If a fixed penalty is not paid in full within the fixed 
penalty payment period (normally 28 days), the amount of the fixed 
penalty increases by 100% with effect from the day after the last day of 
the fixed penalty payment period. Any unpaid amounts would be 
recovered as a civil debt. An individual may appeal against a notice and 
has the right for any rejection of their appeal to be heard by an 
adjudicator. The Council would need to pay the costs associated with 
the adjudication process. 

 
7.15 There are some practical barriers in introducing the new approach 

within the Borough. In particular, the Traffic Penalty Tribunal, who would 
act as adjudicators in the case of appeals, requires all authorities to 
operate an electronic system for issuing fixed penalty notice. It is 
recommended that the Council adopts, in principle, the new powers for 
responding to littering from vehicles and that the Executive Member be 
given authority to approve the commencement of issuing notices under 
the new regime provided a cost-effective mechanism for operating the 
system can be identified. 

 
7.16 The Criminal Justice and Courts Act 2015 introduced the single justice 

procedure (SJP). This Council is now following this procedure for 
littering and dog fouling prosecutions. The process is designed to 
enable cases to be dealt with by a single magistrate “on the papers” 
without the attendance of either prosecutor or defendant. The 
procedure is limited to cases where the accused has attained the age of 
18, is charged with a summary offence that does not carry 

Page 23



imprisonment, intends to plead guilty and does not object to the matter 
being dealt with without a hearing. 

 
Litter and Dog Fouling 
 
7.17 The number of fixed penalties issued for littering and dog fouling are 

shown in the figure below. 
 

 
 
7.18 The number of littering fixed penalties issued in 2017/18 was 63 

compared to 23 in 2016/17 (a 174% increase). Similarly, the number of 
dog fouling fixed penalties increased from 6 to 11 (an 83% increase). 

 
7.19 From 1 April to 31 August 2018, there were 68 fixed penalties issued for 

littering and 10 for dog fouling. 
 
7.20 There have been 5 successful prosecutions for littering and one for dog 

fouling in 2018 (to date): 
 

Offence Date of 
offence 

Location Decision 
date 

Result 

Littering 18/1/18 Henry 
Street, 
Glossop 

29/8/18 Fine: £220 
Victim Surcharge: £30 
Costs: £150 
Total: £400 

Littering 29/1/18 High Street 
West, 
Glossop 

29/8/18 Fine: £220 
Victim Surcharge: £30 
Costs: £150 
Total: £400 

Littering 22/2/18 Terrace Rd, 
Buxton 

5/9/18 Fine: £50 
Victim Surcharge: £30 
Costs: £50 
Total: £130 

Littering. 8/2/18 Market 5/9/18 Fine: £220 

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

N
um

be
r o

f f
ix

ed
 p

en
al

ty
 n

ot
ic

es
 

Litter Dog fouling

Page 24



Providing 
false name 
and address. 

Street, 
Buxton 

Victim Surcharge: £30 
Costs: £200 
Total: £450 

Dog Fouling 28/2/18 Market 
Street, 
Buxton 

5/9/18 Fine: £220 
Victim Surcharge: £30 
Costs: £150 
Total: £400 

Littering 21/2/18 Henry 
Street, 
Glossop 

5/9/18 Fine: £220 
Victim Surcharge: £30 
Costs: £150 
Total: £400 

 
Fly-tipping 
 
7.21 There were 438 reported fly-tips in the Borough in 2017/18 compared to 

467 in the previous year. 
 
7.22 One particular issue has been caused by grain hauliers sweeping out 

their vehicles in the laybys of the A6. In addition to making the area 
untidy, the Council has also received reports of increased rodent 
activity. The Council has issued one fixed penalty notice to a driver and 
has also written to TASC (Trade Assurance Scheme for Combinable 
Crops) to raise the problem amongst its members. 

 
7.23 A spate of fly-tipping occurred in the Goyt Valley in early 2018. It 

appeared that the material was coming from house clearances in 
Manchester and Salford. The material was being tipped over a large 
area with most deposits taking place over the border in East Cheshire. 
Cheshire Police’s Rural Crime Team and Cheshire East Council led the 
investigation and the regular tipping subsequently came to a halt. 

 
Abandoned Vehicles 
 
7.24 In 2017/2018, the Council received 291 reports that a vehicle had been 

abandoned. Of these: 
• 116 were subsequently removed by the owner; 
• 48 were not deemed to have been abandoned; 
• 23 were removed by the Council; and 
• 16 were not present when the officer visited. 

 
7.25 The web form for reporting abandoned vehicles has been updated to 

encourage complainants to provide additional information to assist with 
the investigation of their complaint. In particular, the form now asks 
additional information about the condition of the vehicle, which links to 
Defra guidance on the common characteristics of abandoned vehicles. 
There is no legal definition of abandoned and local authority officers 
must use their discretion when making decisions on abandonment. This 
new web form will hopefully reduce the need for repeated visits to a 
reported vehicle to obtain background information. 

 

Page 25



7.26 A web form has also been created to allow the registered keeper of 
vehicles that have been reported to the Council as abandoned to inform 
the Council about their intention with regards the vehicle. The web form 
asks the following questions to assist the Council to appropriately 
respond to the complaint: 

 
• How long has the vehicle remained stationary in its current 

location? 
• How often is the vehicle used? 
• What is the vehicle used for? 
• Who uses the vehicle? 
• Is the vehicle roadworthy? 
• What do you intend to do with the vehicle in the future? 

 
7.27 The Council has also used Community Protection Notices to remove 

vehicles that are causing a nuisance but which may not clearly meet the 
definition of being abandoned. This has proved successful, for example, 
in the Peak Dale area. 

 
Mark Trillo 

Executive Director (People) and Chief Monitoring Officer 
 
 
Background Papers Location Contact details 

 
David Smith x 4165 

Litter Strategy for England  https://assets.publishing.
service.gov.uk/governm
ent/uploads/system/uplo
ads/attachment_data/file
/630999/litter-strategy-
for-england-2017-v2.pdf 

 

The Environmental Offences 
(fixed Penalties) (England) 
Regulations 2017 

https://www.legislation.g
ov.uk/uksi/2017/1050/co
ntents/made 

 

The Littering From Vehicles 
Outside London (Keepers: Civil 
Penalties) Regulations 2018 

http://www.legislation.go
v.uk/uksi/2018/171/conte
nts/made 

 

Page 26

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/630999/litter-strategy-for-england-2017-v2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/630999/litter-strategy-for-england-2017-v2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/630999/litter-strategy-for-england-2017-v2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/630999/litter-strategy-for-england-2017-v2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/630999/litter-strategy-for-england-2017-v2.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/630999/litter-strategy-for-england-2017-v2.pdf


Appendix A: Enforcement Activity 
 
Type of 
Action 

2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Dog Fouling FPN 0 1 0 3 11 7 6 11 10 

Litter FPN 2 2 11 32 29 19 23 63 68 

2018/19 figures show activity from 1st April 2018 to 31st August 2018. 

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



COMMUNITY 
Chairman: Councillor Young  

Vice Chairman: Councillor Sizeland 
Lead Officer: M Trillo 

Date Items Contact Officer Purpose/Method of 
Consideration 

3-Oct-2018 Update from Derbyshire Police Derbyshire Police  
Royal Bank of Scotland Closure   
Care Closer to Home  North Derbyshire CCG  
Air Quality Management Order Alicia Patterson   
Environmental Enforcement David Smith  
Work Programme   
   

05-Dec-2018 HPBC Leisure Centre Management (Part 2) Andrew Stokes  
Sport and Physical Activity Strategy David Stock  
AES Monitoring Andrew Stokes  
Household Waste Bin Charges (referred Council motion) Keith Parker  
Work Programme   

6-Feb-2019 Work Programme   
   
   

25-March-
2019 

Work Programme   
   
   

June-2019 Appointment of Chairman and Vice Chairman   
Work Programme   
   
   

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 10



COMMUNITY 
Community Rights M Forrester  
Update from NWAS NWAS  
Update on review of Disabled Facilities Grant DCC  
Chartered Institute of Housing Review of Sheltered 
Accommodation 

Mary Walker  

Non-financial update from Housing Revenue Account 
Business Plan 

Helen Core  

Fairfield Road Update Mike Towers  
Adult Social Care Residential Care Policies and impact 
on HPBC 

DCC  

Monitoring of Alliance Environmental Services Andrew Stokes  
Care Together Programme Update Tameside and Glossop 

CCG (Jessica 
Williams) 

 

   
 

P
age 30


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the previous meeting
	8 Declaration of an Air Quality Management Area on part of the Woodhead Road (A628) Tintwistle
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	9 Environmental Enforcement Annual Update
	Word Bookmarks
	ORIGHIT_13
	HIT_13
	ORIGHIT_14
	HIT_14
	ORIGHIT_15
	HIT_15


	10 Select Committee Work Programme

